
   [image: cover]


   
      
         iii

         
            
               [image: ]

            

         

      

   


   
      
         
v
            CONTENTS

         

         
            
               
	Title Page

                  	Preface to the Paperback Edition 

                  	Introduction: In a Station of the Métro 

                  	 

                  	PART I: FROM THE UNDERWORLD TO THE ABWEHR 

                  	1: The Man Who Loved Orchids 

                  	2: One Hour Behind Germany 

                  	3: Playing to Win 

                  	4: The Great Mistake 

                  	5: Rotting from the Head Downwards 

                  	6: Green Fruit 

                  	 

                  	PART II: FROM THE ABWEHR TO THE GESTAPO 

                  	7: The Big Score 

                  	8: Reverse of the Map 

                  	9: Night and Fog 

                  	10:  Tout va Très Bien, Madame la Marquise  

                  	11: Those Damned and Fallen 

                  	12: Half a Flaming Sun 

                  	 

                  	PART III: FROM THE GESTAPO TO THE SS 

                  	13: In the Cellars of Rue Lauriston 

                  	14: A North African Connection 

                  	15: SS Mohammed 

                  	16: The Comedy Is Over 

                  	
17:  La Tour de Babelvi


                  	 

                  	PART IV: FROM THE SS TO THE FIRING SQUAD 

                  	18:  Das Schloss  

                  	19: Picking Mushrooms 

                  	20: The Trial 

                  	21: Long Live France, Anyway 

                  	22: An Old Photograph of Our Youth 

                  	23: Ghosts of Paris

                  	 

                  	About the Author 

                  	Bibliography 

                  	Index 

                  	Plates

                  	Copyright 

               



         

      

   


   
      
         
vii
            PREFACE TO THE PAPERBACK EDITION

         

         THE KING OF NAZI PARIS began when I was living in a fin de siècle apartment in Brussels with high ceilings and a view of the Parc du Cinquantenaire. The place belonged to the Polish government and housed a diplomat who went to mass twice a week and thought a relationship with an English writer might work. She soon discovered otherwise and began emailing me regular bullet-point lists of things that needed to change. The lists evolved over time, but point three usually involved my immediate conversion to Catholicism and point eleven demanded a spontaneous romantic gesture once a week, preferably on Friday evenings.

         That summer we took a week’s holiday in Paris to try to save the relationship, even though it felt a lot like grappling with the controls of a crashing aircraft. We went on a Friday evening so I could cross a bullet point off the list and stayed with a friend at the Polish Academy of Sciences somewhere deep in the sixteenth arrondissement. An iron and glass gate creaked open to reveal a four-storey maze of conference rooms and bedrooms and an extensive basement, all curled around a rectangular concrete courtyard. The building had been a hotel before the war and a private residence before that. A plaque on the wall by the worn marble stairs noted that Marcel Proust used to viiivisit the family who once lived here. Our room looked out at slick grey Paris rooftops and we were woken every morning at seven by rubber thwacks from the squash club next door. Then we explored the city.

         I loved Paris instantly. It’s a cliché but that doesn’t stop it being true. That place tore the heart right out my chest and served it up with garlic and shallots and a glass of red wine. I would have happily paid double and tipped the waiter. History, architecture, restaurants, cafés, the flowing Seine, the chic passers-by and the prime real estate given over to bookshops and art galleries. It was paradise on earth. My diplomat girlfriend had studied here a decade back and wanted to show me the tourist spots: the Eiffel Tower, the Musée d’Orsay, Notre-Dame, Montmartre. Before we left Brussels she had asked if there was anything I wanted to see in the French capital. I had a list including Ernest Hemingway’s apartment, the grave of Charles Baudelaire and a few other things.

         I also vaguely remembered having read about wartime gangsters in Paris years earlier during one of those internet sessions when you intend to spend five minutes checking emails and find yourself still there six hours later watching videos of real-life helicopter crashes in Russia. Somewhere between the spam and flying rotor blades was the story of the Bonny-Lafont gang.

         This group of crooks, corrupt cops and fallen celebrities had been led by the orchid-loving thief Henri Lafont and his disgraced policeman sidekick Pierre Bonny. They worked for the Nazis and lived like royalty until the Allies arrived. But while the going was good, Lafont reigned as the king of Nazi Paris out of his headquarters at 93 rue Lauriston. Even members of the collaborating French government at Vichy, who supposedly enjoyed the support of Berlin, came to No. 93 and begged for favours. One of Lafont’s gang had been the ixformer captain of France’s 1930 football World Cup team. Another ran the famous French Connection heroin smuggling ring. A third was France’s first Public Enemy Number One.

         The building was still standing. A memorial plaque to their victims hung on the wall outside. I wanted to see it and pay my respects.

         ‘Do you think we can find 93 rue Lauriston?’ I asked.

         ‘It’s not difficult,’ my diplomat replied. ‘We’re staying at No. 74.’

         It was the first of a blizzard of coincidences that pushed me into writing the book. A biography of French gangster Jo Attia I’d picked up second-hand in Brussels a week before the holiday turned out to involve the gang. Attia had been a prominent member, at least until he had second thoughts. I opened a glossy photobook in a Paris museum gift shop and discovered that a familiar picture of two lesbian drinkers at the Chameleon Club, seen in various contexts many times before, apparently featured Violette Morris, a collaborator and friend of the gang. Infamous wartime serial killer Marcel Petiot had counted a member of the gang among his victims. I’d read – for some reason – two separate biographies of the good doctor but only discovered the Bonny-Lafont connection during this holiday.

         The biggest coincidence of all was in a book about wartime Paris, picked up from a four-storey Gilbert Joseph shop in the centre of the city, which noted in passing that during the war 74 rue Lauriston had housed members of the gang’s paramilitary unit, the Brigade Nord-Africaine. We were staying in a building, possibly even in one of the rooms, where Lafont’s Moroccan mercenaries had slept during the spring of 1944 while the resistance movement strengthened and the Allies waited in the wings of Europe.

         The King of Nazi Paris wanted to be written. I’d had other ideas for my fifth book but clearly something was pushing me in Lafont’s xdirection and I had no choice in the matter. I told my girlfriend about it as we sat outside a café near the Champs-Élysées. She nodded and leaned across the bronze tabletop.

         ‘I think God wants you to write this book,’ she said earnestly.

         ‘I don’t think God wants me to write a book about gangsters who collaborated with the Nazis,’ I replied. ‘But I’m going to anyway.’

         She laughed at that, something so unprecedented that her lipstick cracked in three places, but our Parisian holiday couldn’t save the relationship and I moved to Warsaw a few months later. At first there was lot of staring at the falling snow outside my windows with a glass of whisky in hand, but then I met someone who turned on the lights and my life was better than it had ever been before. Through it all The King of Nazi Paris called out to be written.

         
            • • •

         

         There was research, an agent, a contract, more research and then the writing. Sitting in my apartment hacking at the laptop keyboard, the coincidences that had inspired the project remained lodged in my mind even as other kinds of parallels began to emerge.

         Polish friends were permanently astonished that I wasn’t writing a book about their country, but still managed to remain polite about it. When I explained the subject of my book they would nod and say, ‘Dobrze. So just like Abraham Gancwajch?’

         I knew the name. Since returning to Poland I had been living in a post-war block of flats on the site of what once had been the outer boundary of the Warsaw Ghetto. In 1940 the invading Nazis walled up 400,000 Jews in 1.3 square miles of city centre as part of their Manichean racial war. SS soldiers starved the Ghetto inhabitants, beat them, and were still surprised when the Jews rose up in early xi1943 and took on the Germans in an act of suicidal resistance. The battle was only ever going to end one way.

         Today there isn’t much left of the Ghetto except a few crumbling red brick walls and some tramlines that abruptly terminate in the middle of the street. The Israeli school parties that come here every summer look both moved by the memories and disappointed to find themselves walking around a zone filled with modern hairdressers and supermarkets.

         While the Ghetto still stood here, Abraham Gancwajch was its Jewish king. His gang was known as the ‘Trzynastka’ (‘Thirteen’) after the address of Gancwajch’s headquarters in ulica Leszno. Amazingly the building still stands, five minutes from my apartment, although post-war rebuilding has concealed it behind a new number and road name. Unlike Lafont, the Jewish Pole hadn’t started out as a gangster but worked instead as a journalist with a strong line in Zionism. All that crumbled when the Nazis invaded Poland and Gancwajch agreed to spy on his own people for the German intelligence services. By December 1940 he had been inserted into the Warsaw Ghetto to undermine the existing Jewish authorities, which were proving too independent-minded for the Germans.

         With the establishment of the Trzynastka, Gancwajch became a gangster. His group was officially supposed to combat extortion and price gouging. In reality it did the opposite, blackmailing Ghetto inhabitants, threatening others and running the black market that Gancwajch publicly claimed to be stamping out. He became rich and powerful, eating well as other Jews starved and smuggling goods into the Ghetto with the help of corrupt German officers. Gancwajch sent regular intelligence reports back to the Gestapo and set up his own brothel where the Trzynastka inner circle drank and whored their days away.xii

         After the Ghetto uprising he took his family into the Aryan side of Warsaw, still working for the Nazis, and helped hunt down Polish resistance fighters. Jewish gangsters were a lot more disposable than French ones and Abraham Gancwajch disappeared in 1943, probably executed by the Germans once his usefulness ran out.

         The parallels between Lafont’s and Gancwajch’s activities were clear, but there was an ocean of difference between the circumstances of a Catholic Frenchman and a Jewish Pole living under Nazi rule. A Dutch expatriate I knew in Warsaw, who claimed to have deserted from the French Foreign Legion and now corrected the subtitles for video games, told me that a Dutchman named Dries Riphagen provided a closer match to Lafont.

         A merchant seaman who spent some time in America learning from the local crime gangs, Riphagen became a big name in the Amsterdam underworld for his involvement in pimping, gambling and stolen cars. Unlike Lafont he was political and carried a membership card for the Nationaal-Socialistische Nederlandsche Arbeiderspartij (National Socialist Dutch Workers Party), a far-right group who prayed for the day Germany would absorb their country. Their prayers were answered in 1940 and Riphagen immediately began working for the German security services. In other corners of the Nazi empire, Lafont and Gancwajch were doing the same.

         The Dutch gangster combined his existing criminal schemes with tracking down Jews and resistance fighters for the Nazis. He roped other crooks into his network and eventually graduated to membership of the Henneicke Column, a group of crooks and fascists that collected a bounty for each Dutch Jew they arrested. When the war was over Riphagen escaped to Argentina and managed to avoid xiiiextradition by cosying up to the Perón regime. He spent his last years in Madrid as an ageing gigolo kept by wealthy women.

         Every occupied country seemed to have produced someone like Lafont or Gancwajch or Riphagen during the war. Nazi intelligence services obviously had no objection to employing foreign gangsters. Neither did the Allies. America used mobster Charles ‘Lucky’ Luciano to smooth the 1943 invasion of Sicily, while the British sent safecracker and career criminal Eddie Chapman undercover into occupied Europe as Agent Zigzag. As I worked on The King of Nazi Paris it became clear that what made Henri Lafont so unique was not his background but the sheer influence he exercised. The other gangsters operated within strictly monitored boundaries, but Lafont was everywhere, his tentacles creeping into every crevice of the occupation. By 1944 he was the most powerful Frenchman in Paris, with the ability to pressure senior SS officers into releasing prisoners, bully important collaborators, and remain unafraid of even the most feared Nazi officers in the capital.

         It was a Faustian pact with the occupier and even Lafont found it hard to be surprised when it all came tumbling down. He had brought enough pain and suffering to others on the way to deserve his fate. The stone plaque outside rue Lauriston that I saw on that trip to Paris commemorates his victims. There is always a fresh bunch of flowers in a blue, white and red wrapper hanging beneath it.

         Eventually I finished writing the book. A journey which began in Brussels had ended in Warsaw, but its dark heart always remained that gang of men who could not recognise true north on the spinning moral compass of wartime Paris. They all paid the price, one way or another.xiv

      

   


   
      
         
xv
            INTRODUCTION

            IN A STATION OF THE MÉTRO

         

         DRINKERS IN CHEZ LA Mère Laval scrambled for cover as Henri Lafont chased the pimp out of the bar and into the street, pulling a gun from his jacket pocket. The shooting started in the blackout of rue d’Aboukir.

         A few minutes earlier, a pimp named Tanguy had been taking a drink after a day spent slapping around girls who kept money back at the brothel. Now he was running for his life towards the mouth of the Métro Strasbourg – Saint-Denis as Lafont’s shots lit up the street around him.

         He almost made it. Tanguy was at the Métro entrance when a bullet hit him somewhere vital and he tumbled, tried to get up, went down again and lay there like a petal stuck to a wet branch. He was bleeding all over the stone steps when a German patrol in feldgrau arrived. Lafont showed them an identity card with French text: ‘Le porteur du présent papier … est Officier … Il est authorise de…’ (‘The bearer of this document … is an officer … he is authorised to…’) and a black and white photograph of his flat face, with its lacquer-dark hair and hint of a double chin.

         ‘He’s a terrorist,’ said Lafont.

         Somewhere in the darkness Tanguy coughed up blood on the xviMétro stairs. It was a late November evening in a surrendered city, close to curfew. Lafont had erased another threat to his criminal empire. The man had been his friend for years.

         In wartime Paris, a gang of crooks, corrupt police and fallen celebrities led by the orchid-loving thief Henri Lafont worked for the Nazis and lived like kings until it all came down and a price had to be paid. The Allies called them ‘the Bonny-Lafont gang’, after the group’s leaders; the Germans knew them as ‘Active Gruppe Hess’, after a Nazi contact man in rue des Saussaies; its members called themselves ‘the Carlingue’, underworld slang for the firm or the outfit. Locals called them ‘the French Gestapo’.

         They were a tribe of murderers, thieves, gold traffickers, pimps, stick-up men, fake French barons, Russian princesses, self-taught art experts, disgraced former policemen and the one-time captain of the French national football team. They even had their own Rasputin, a bearded Bulgarian mystic, who was obsessed with magical pentacles and underage girls.

         The twin suns of this French wild bunch were a petty criminal who went by the name of Henri Lafont and his former policeman sidekick, Inspector Pierre Bonny. The pair wore the best clothes, ate at the best restaurants and did whatever they wanted in occupied Paris. They lived on a poisoned honeycomb.

         Lafont’s real name was Henri Chamberlin. Tall and flabby-faced under brilliantined dark hair, he could look almost respectable in the right light, like a bank clerk caught with his hand in the till. In the wrong light he was a barely literate racketeer. Before the war he’d been an unsuccessful small-time crook constantly in and out of prison. Money was never happy to see him.

         ‘I had a bare arse and empty pockets,’ he said.1

         His friend Bonny was lean as whalebone. As a police inspector, xviiBonny had been involved in some of the biggest cases in 1930s Paris. His role in the Alexandre Stavisky affair got front-page attention when the investigation sparked nationalist riots in the Place de la Concorde. Later, it emerged that Bonny was as corrupt as the crooks he had chased. The police force kicked him out into disgrace and poverty.

         The Second World War changed everything. German tanks rolled through France in the summer of 1940 and ended the Third Republic’s seventy years of political compromise and empire building. Some Frenchmen crossed the Channel with General Charles de Gaulle to continue the fight from London, but the rest accepted defeat.

         The 84-year-old Marshal Philippe Pétain had been trudging towards retirement as the French ambassador to Spain when the war began. He returned during the days of retreat to join Paul Reynaud’s tottering government and negotiate a ceasefire with Germany; a position taken as pragmatism by some and treason by others. Fellow ministers fled to London, but the marshal stayed behind to head up a puppet government in the peaceful spa town of Vichy. His ministers launched a Révolution Nationale that salvaged as much French pride as the Nazi gauleiters would allow.

         The Germans took Paris for themselves, flew a swastika from the Eiffel Tower and recruited local help. Chamberlin was a perfect candidate. A chance encounter in a prison camp led him to a life of luxury running a ruthless mob of gangsters who looted the city on behalf of the German occupiers. All it took was a taste for treason, treachery and deceit.

         The same wheel of fortune brought Pierre Bonny out of humiliation and back into the high life. The former inspector tried to pretend that he was still a policeman as the gang rode a crime wave through the capital.xviii

         Chamberlin and Bonny looted Jewish properties; bought low and sold high on the black market; scammed illegal gold deals; stole priceless art; ran protection rackets; intercepted parachute drops; infiltrated resistance groups; gunned down rivals; and sprung anyone from prison for the right price. They drafted in Chamberlin’s old gangster friends from prison and the underworld. Soon they had an all-star team made up of France’s most-wanted crooks. The gang’s Nazi handlers gave them all immunity in exchange for a cut of the profits and any useful information that came their way.

         Chamberlin and Bonny moved into a blank-faced town house at 93 rue Lauriston, which was a narrow urban canyon of a road between the Place de L’Étoile and the Trocadéro. The first floor of their new home hosted parties where collaborationists mixed with young socialites and well-mannered German officers. Henri Chamberlin showed off the orchids that he loved so much and everyone drank champagne while the gramophone scratched up a shellac 78. Then the party would head off to a nightclub in one of Chamberlin’s white Bentleys with headlights cutting through blackout Paris, German soldiers saluting as they passed. The rest of the gang stayed behind to torture prisoners down in the rue Lauriston cellars.

         Some of Chamberlin’s men, like Abel ‘Le Mammouth’ Danos, tortured people to get information and money. Others, like Paul Clavié, with his dark eyes and pimp’s moustache, just liked to watch people suffer.

         The Bonny-Lafont gang climbed its way up the collaborationist hierarchy. The gang became untouchable when Chamberlin manoeuvred himself into a role hunting down members of the resistance and the Nazi authorities handed over German police identity cards and the licence to carry guns. By 1943, Monsieur Henri was the most powerful Frenchman in Nazi Paris.xix

         
            • • •

         

         Tanguy the pimp signed his own death warrant when he carved up two of Chamberlin’s gangsters in a Montmartre bar fight. The underworld knew Jean Sartore as ‘Le Chauve’ (The Bald) for his sparsely covered scalp. His friend Auguste Jeunet was a pimp called ‘Cajac’, who had a soft black moustache and a right eye that stared off at an oblique angle from a nest of scar tissue.

         The two men never told anyone how the fight with Tanguy started. Protection money, gambling debts, stolen silverware, swaggering machismo, perhaps something to do with an Arab prostitute called Matilda who ended up dead in a ditch after trying to shoot her gangster boyfriend. Whatever the cause of the disagreement, it finished with Sartore’s intestines hanging out through his silk shirt and Jeunet bleeding deep from slashes on his skull.

         Chamberlin visited the pair in hospital to hear that a pimp they knew only as ‘Phono’ had done the damage. Sartore and Jeunet asked their boss not to retaliate; they’d take care of business when they had recovered. Chamberlin gave them an oily smile and promised nothing.

         A few weeks later, Tanguy was sitting at a bar in the rue d’Aboukir when someone connected him to the nickname Phono and made a quick telephone call. Chamberlin and his men arrived in their white Bentley. Tanguy and Chamberlin realised that they knew each other, and had even been good friends once, but this did not stop the confrontation. There were words from Monsieur Henri that might have been an attempt to make an arrest, which was followed by raised voices and then fists. Finally Tanguy broke free and ran. Chamberlin shot him in the back at the entrance to the Métro Strasbourg – Saint-Denis. Tanguy died in hospital.xx

         Bonny typed up a report for his Gestapo contacts that remodelled the dead pimp as a dangerous resistance fighter and turned the gangland vendetta into a righteous political act. The men in black leather coats didn’t believe any of it, but Chamberlin was too valuable, too rich and too powerful for them to openly doubt his version of events.

         The Bonny-Lafont gang continued to rule Paris from its sixteenth-arrondissement headquarters and began looking to grab some political power. Chamberlin told other gangsters that he saw himself as a future police prefect of the city, perhaps even mayor. He had plans to help the poor. Fellow collaborator Robert Brasillach described him as an ‘intermediary between the Renaissance and Scarface’.2

         Famous and infamous faces came to pay homage to Lafont at rue Lauriston. Singer and actor Maurice Chevalier came to ask for a favour; Jewish scrap metal millionaire Joseph Joinovici had deals to finance; bisexual race-car driver and champion weight-lifter Violette Morris came to socialise. Somewhere out there on the streets of Paris was a notorious doctor with a secret life as a serial killer on a collision course with the gang.

         By early 1944, the Carlingue was so enmeshed in the German wartime framework that its gangsters officered and ran the Brigade Nord-Africaine, a paramilitary outfit of Moroccan and Algerian émigrés operating out of Tulle. It robbed, raped and murdered the locals under cover of fighting the resistance. Chamberlin hoped to build a political empire out of France’s North African population, with the brigade as its foundation stone. Then the Allies came.

         De Gaulle’s soldiers kicked open the doors of 93 rue Lauriston to find the smouldering remains of Bonny’s files in the garden and graffiti on the cellar walls. The building was empty. It was the end xxiof easy money, expensive clothes, champagne every night, pressed duck at the Tour d’Argent and the parades of girls in fur wraps, who all claimed to be countesses and loved opium and threesomes but looked familiar to anyone who knew the chorus lines in the sleazier revues of Paris.

         ‘For four years, I had all the most beautiful women, orchids, champagne and caviar by the bucketful,’ said Chamberlin. ‘I lived the equivalent of ten lives.’3

         The war had transformed Chamberlin from wanted man into the godfather of Nazi Paris. The German defeat sent him back to where it all began like a Möbius strip; and he was once again on the run with death one step behind him.xxii

         
            
287NOTES

            1 Philippe Aziz, Tu Trahiras sans Vergogne: Histoire de Deux ‘Collabos’, Bonny et Lafont (Paris: Fayard, 1970), p. 44.

            2 Henry Sergg, Joinovici: L’Empire Souterrain d’un Chiffonnier Milliardaire (Paris: Le Carrousel-FN, 1986), p. 116.

            3 Alphonse Boudard, L’Étrange Monsieur Joseph (Paris: Pocket, 1998), p. 152.
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            PART I

            FROM THE UNDERWORLD TO THE ABWEHR2

         

      

   


   
      
         
3
            1

            THE MAN WHO LOVED ORCHIDS

         

         ON A SUMMER’S DAY in the middle of June 1940, a fleet of Stuka dive-bombers came screaming out of the sun in northern France. Whatever sadist designed the aircraft had built sirens into its landing gear, with no other purpose than to traumatise civilians on the ground already terrorised by Panzer tanks and jackboots. The Stuka siren provided the soundtrack for German victories in the first year of the Second World War through Poland, Norway and Belgium.

         The sirens sent a prisoner column scrambling into ditches along a country road, located a few days’ march from Paris. When the first bombs hit, three prisoners jumped up and took off across a road through all of the noise and smoke. They made it into a field and kept going through the high grass. The tall man, who was trying to hunch over as he ran, was Henri Louis Chamberlin, a petty criminal who loved flowers and fraud and had spent his adult life trying to stay out of prison.

         Chamberlin grew up in a poverty-stricken household in the thirteenth arrondissement of Paris to a working-class printer and his wife. He was an orphan by the age of thirteen with a handful of relatives scattered around the country who had no time for him. He told friends about spending one birthday curled up asleep on 4his father’s grave. His childhood was spent living on the streets and eating out of dustbins. Chamberlin got his education from beggars and crooks and street gangs. As a teenager he landed a job as a butcher’s delivery boy, but petty crime was already deeply embedded in his bones.

         In 1919, the police picked up seventeen-year-old Chamberlin riding a stolen work bicycle down to Toulouse in the south-west of France, where he hoped to visit his sister. He was arrested and served three months in prison. Chamberlin was barely back on the streets when the police arrested him again, this time for stealing rabbits. He was put in a correctional centre for criminal teens; institutions designed to rehabilitate, but full of bullying and exploitation and the ammonia stink of piss.

         After Chamberlin’s release, the army grabbed him for national service on his eighteenth birthday. He did two years in the Tirailleurs Algériens and was one of the few white faces among the Algerian colonial troops. Chamberlin came out of the armed forces with a good conduct record; if he stole anything while he was overseas no one found out. By this time, he was a big, hard man with a surprisingly high voice and a love of orchids. Something about the lush soft blooms meant a lot to him, but no one mocked him about it more than once.

         The adult Chamberlin had a talent for deception and small horizons. He had become the kind of man who could make friends with anyone in a café and would count it a good day if he stole their wallet when they visited the toilets. He was tough enough when it came to a fight, but preferred to leave violence to the professional thugs, unless there was a point to be made. He lied all the time, for good reason or just out of habit.

         Chamberlin’s return to civilian life led to more stealing and more 5arrests. He briefly joined a circus then did a six-month stint in prison for theft. He moved to Marseille, bought a van and started his own moving business. One day the gendarmes arrived to find him working on a stolen car. Chamberlin claimed the vehicle belonged to one of his friends, but the judge gave him a two-year sentence. While still behind bars he married his girlfriend Rebecchi Arzia, and the couple later had a son and daughter.

         Chamberlin would serve another five prison sentences, which ranged from six months to a year. Almost all were for theft. He became used to the clanging cell doors, bad food and shuffling around an exercise yard with men who had tattoos of dotted lines and ‘cut here’ circled around their necks because France still executed criminals by the guillotine.

         Chamberlin’s cellmates included an outwardly respectable war hero-type called Lionel de Wiet, who dropped heavy hints about a blue-blooded background. Behind the good manners and nice accent, de Wiet was neither an aristocrat nor a soldier, just a cocaine addict from a good family who had made a career out of fraud.

         Another prison friend was Adrien Estébétéguy, who was known to the underworld as ‘The Basque’ or ‘Adrien la Main Froide’ (Cold Hand Adrien). Estébétéguy had a stern face, thinning hair and eyebrows like black caterpillars. He could be thuggish, and had a taste for beating up policemen, but his relish for verbal violence was enough to make other gangsters avoid him. Estébétéguy spent most of his criminal career around Toulouse and had done eight stretches in prison for robbery. ‘An individual of more than doubtful morality,’ said his police report.1

         Chamberlin was not in the same league as his new prison companions. He was just a habitual petty criminal, never good enough to make a living out of crime and never honest enough to stick to 6a straight job. He moved his family to Saint-Jean-de-Maurienne in south-eastern France and worked in a store. In 1937 his wife took the children and 2,000 francs from the store cash drawer and ran off with another man. Chamberlin was blamed for the theft. At the prospect of serving more prison time, he left town and spent the next few years bouncing between Paris and the south of France under a fistful of fake identities.

         As the 1930s came to an end, Chamberlin was as crooked as ever and just as unlikely to tell the truth. Even his friends didn’t trust his stories.

         ‘Monsieur Henri had a little problem with exaggeration,’ said the owner of a café where Chamberlin went a few days a week to drink and chat. ‘It amused him to put us on. He pretended to have been in a German prison with Monsieurs Hitler and Hess.’2

         No one in the café believed a word he said. The owner advised him to write a novel.

         It was a strange time to be boasting about knowing Adolf Hitler. Years of bitterness about the First World War and the Versailles Treaty had pushed the Nazis into power in Germany. Imperialism came back on the menu and as the end of the decade approached, war became inevitable.

         On 1 September 1939 Germany invaded Poland; Britain and France declared war on Germany; and a conflict began that would go on to affect every corner of the world. Hitler’s allies in the Soviet Union swallowed up the eastern half of Poland in mid-September, before taking the Baltic States and then invading Finland in November. German tanks sat on the French border, while Hitler hoped for peace in the west but spent his time planning for war.

         Among all the panic and military preparations, Chamberlin was leading an outwardly respectable life and working as a sub-agent for 7Simca, a recently established car manufacturer that was backed by Fiat. He ran a showroom for the company near the Porte des Lilas in Paris under the name Henri Normand. In April 1940 he branched out to help administer the canteen at his local police station. He had managed to manoeuvre himself into the precinct on the back of the goodwill received after donating a car, that probably didn’t belong to him, as a prize in a police charity raffle.

         Chamberlin had barely started work with the police canteen when German tanks made an unexpected thrust through the Ardennes. The French army called up anyone with a pulse and a working trigger finger to fight for their country, but Monsieur Henri had no interest in saving a society whose morality meant nothing to him. He stole as much money as he could get his hands on in the canteen and vanished.

         The fraud was discovered by Inspector Albert Priolet, who was famous for having arrested the Dutch spy Mata Hari back in the First World War. Chamberlin was picked up in his new role helping set up concert tours for the army. He spent a few weeks in Cherche-Midi prison before being transferred to a new camp at Cépoy, a disused riverside factory seventy miles south of Paris. From there, the authorities planned to ship him out to a penal colony in French Guiana.

         While in Cépoy, Chamberlin became friendly with a Swiss cellmate interned on espionage charges. Max Stöcklin was a big-jawed 39-year-old from Basel who got into the spy game following years of roaming Germany and France as an unsuccessful salesman for gasogene boilers. He bottomed out in Brussels with two divorces to his name and bankruptcy looming over him.

         In 1934 Stöcklin met a high-living German called Hermann Brandl, who claimed to represent Belgian boiler makers but got his 8real pay cheque from the Abwehr, the German military intelligence service. Brandl was a cheerful blond spy with good manners and a square head. He put Stöcklin through a few years of loaded questions before recruiting him as an agent. Money was not a problem for Stöcklin anymore.

         Nine months into the Second World War, French agents discovered that Stöcklin had been transmitting information about military manoeuvres from a house in Paris and locked him up. In Cépoy he became friendly with Chamberlin and another German spy called Karl Hennecke. The trio began plotting their escape and finally got their chance when the authorities evacuated the camp in the middle of June ahead of the arrival of the approaching German army.

         Stuka bombers came down on the procession of prisoners as they tramped along a country road carrying suitcases and overcoats. Chamberlin, Stöcklin and Hennecke managed to make their escape in the chaos.

         The spies needed to get back to Paris and Chamberlin knew the best way to reach the city. They arrived in the capital to see German troops parading down the Champs-Élysées; the swastika flying from the top of the Eiffel Tower; signposts in Gothic German script near the city’s landmarks; sandbags everywhere; and a newly imposed curfew. Most Parisians had already fled the metropolis in cars and carts loaded high with furniture. Over at the Hôtel Ritz, waiters were serving poached sole and scalloped eggs to German officers and American war correspondents. Table talk was about the odds of a quick surrender from the British, who were still fighting from across the Channel.

         Hennecke disappeared into the city on a personal mission and the other two escapees never saw him again. Stöcklin discovered that his old Abwehr spymasters had set up their headquarters at the Hôtel  9Lutetia on boulevard Raspail and were filling up the place with a mess of boxes and papers and men in uniform. Straight-backed officer types appeared happy to see Stöcklin and politely shook hands with Chamberlin before escorting him out of the building. He tried to get his job back at the police canteen, but Inspector Albert Priolet chased him away. ‘He threw me out like something dirty,’ said Chamberlin, outraged by the violation of some obscure moral code.3

         The ex-prisoner then drifted through Paris and attempted to reconnect with his old friends and acquaintances. He discovered that his former cellmate Estébétéguy was in Fresnes prison for circulating counterfeit money before the war, and everyone else he knew had fled the city. The capital was in chaos: the Germans had requisitioned many apartments and hotels, most shops had closed down and food had become scarce.

         Chamberlin had no friends to call on and nowhere to go. He returned to the Hôtel Lutetia and asked the Abwehr for work.

         
            • • •

         

         The Abwehr was born out of the defeat of the First World War. After the war, Allied troops were stationed across Germany and the Versailles Treaty had all but destroyed what was left of the Kaiser’s army. Prussian officers saw the benefits of establishing an intelligence outfit that was able to creep around in the shadows of their country without alerting the Allies. The Abwehr set up spy networks and filed intelligence reports and waited for the day that Germany would rise from the ashes of defeat.

         A merger with Reichsmarine intelligence gave the military outfit a naval flavour. The white-haired sea-dog Admiral Wilhelm Canaris was in charge of the Abwehr by the time that the Nazi government 10started planning for war. In August 1939, Canaris’s men supplied the Polish uniforms used in a false flag attack on a German radio station in Gleiwitz that gave the Panzer tanks an excuse to start rolling into Poland. In the coming months Abwehr agents armed Ukrainian nationalists, funded a Hindu underground cell seeking to end British imperialism and followed the victorious German army through country after country.

         A year later, Abwehr men were in the Hôtel Lutetia looking on as a defeated France was dismembered. The Germans lacked the manpower to effectively police the whole territory and settled for occupying the industrial north of France and a thick western coastal strip that ran all the way down to the Spanish border. The Italians were granted a chunk of land near the Alps in the south-east of the country. What remained became the Zone Libre (Free Zone) under the rule of a nominally independent French government led by Marshal Philippe Pétain from the spa town of Vichy. Officially Pétain’s authority extended across all France; in reality, the Germans had no intention of allowing him any genuine power outside the Zone Libre beyond some low-level bureaucracy.

         Pétain’s administration danced on strings that were being pulled in Berlin, but following the shock of defeat many French people found comfort in its pragmatic acceptance of the new order. The Troisième République that had ruled France since the Franco-Prussian war was dead and members of the right wing cheerfully tap-danced on its grave.

         ‘An old syphilitic whore … stinking of patchouli and yeast infection, still exhaling her bad odours, still standing on her sidewalk,’4 said Robert Brasillach, writing about the republic from a prisoner-of-war camp where he and 1.5 million other French soldiers were languishing.

         The German occupying authorities fully established themselves 11in Paris. Flags flew, soldiers marched and intelligence agencies sent their tentacles slithering through the city streets and avenues. Abwehr chiefs began a recruitment campaign among the local inhabitants. Stöcklin was happy to see Henri Chamberlin when he reappeared in the lobby of the Hôtel Lutetia on boulevard Raspail. The feeling was mutual.

         ‘There was the Hôtel Lutetia, where I had made friends, thanks to my Swiss chum, Max Stöcklin,’ said Chamberlin about that period. ‘I paid him a visit and he said: “Let’s see, we’ll find something for you.”’5

         Stöcklin introduced his former cellmate to Captain Wilhelm Radecke, a Wehrmacht officer who had been seconded to the Abwehr. The former banker from Berlin liked to act the playboy and loved good food, making money as easily as possible and pretty girls who weren’t his wife. Chamberlin turned on the charm with his high voice and offered to take the captain on a tour of the city and show him what the city’s nightlife had to offer.

         The hedonistic fairground that was Paris was whirling back to life, fuelled by all the money that was being thrown around by the occupiers. German soldiers packed out every café, cabaret and strip show. They drowned in beer and wine and a sea of female flesh. The pimps of Paris got rich quick, and for some French women, the tall, jackbooted men of the Wehrmacht were hard to resist, especially for those whose husbands were far away in prison camps.

         As a former street rat, Chamberlin knew every sleazy nightclub and gangster bar in the city. He got the seats near the band, knew the good madams and the best girls and could push his way into the few restaurants that were still open. Radecke enjoyed himself enough to propose his new French protégé a post as an Abwehr agent. Chamberlin didn’t hesitate.

         ‘Fucking hell, at thirty-eight years old I was in total shit and here 12comes Fritz to offer me money, honours, respectability, the good life,’ he said. ‘They shake my hand, feed me, treat me with respect, not like the French who want to send me off to Guiana. I’d have to be the king of idiots to refuse and I’m not the king of idiots.’6

         Chamberlin received an Abwehr identity card and became agent number 10.474.R. He had joined the organisation at just the right time. Everybody working for the Nazis in Paris was about to have the opportunity to get rich.

         Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring was visiting the defeated capital to spread the word about the official Nazi occupation policy. The overinflated Luftwaffe chief settled in at the Hôtel Ritz and spent his days buying up perfume, jewellery, paintings, statues and a diamond-studded marshal’s baton handcrafted out of gold at Cartier. He settled his hotel bill with a 90 per cent discount, paid even less to Cartier, and looted everything else he could get his hands on. When the shopping expedition was over, Göring assembled his underlings at Maxim’s restaurant to relay the orders that he had been given in Berlin. ‘You must turn yourself into hunting dogs,’ he announced. ‘Be on the trail of anything which might be useful to the German people.’7

         Marshal Pétain’s defeated nation would be forced to sell off everything Germany needed for its war effort, from copper to art, leather to foie gras, petrol to champagne. Money would not be a problem. The new Vichy government had been ordered to pay 20 million Reichsmark a day towards German occupation costs, at the artificially high rate of twenty francs to the Reichsmark when the real value was closer to twelve. This money would be used for the Nazi spending spree. France was funding its own exploitation.

         Kriegsmarine officers of the German naval force were the first to set up a buying office in Paris, on the rue Saint-Florentin. 13Other military organisations quickly followed. Stöcklin’s former spy boss Hermann Brandl arrived from Brussels to set up the Abwehr contribution, which became known as the Amt Otto chain. Chamberlin took an interest in the operation and suggested to Radecke that some of his old criminal associates would make good buyers, if only they weren’t in prison.

         Radecke agreed, still impressed by his guide to the Paris nightlife. He assigned two German soldiers to accompany Chamberlin as muscle but stressed that the local Abwehr boss, Colonel Friedrich Rudolf, could never discover what was going on. Rudolf was a strait-laced gentleman warrior of the old school, who lived for espionage, but hated the vulgarity of petty crime.

         Chamberlin headed down to the Paris courts and demanded access to the files on all recent fraud and theft cases, while calling himself a German police agent. The intimidated clerks handed over everything that was available and watched him walk out the door with his arms full of paperwork.

         The next day agent 10.474.R and his German sidemen appeared at Fresnes prison in the southern suburbs of Paris. Chamberlin spoke to the prison authorities and demanded the release of five prisoners. The two soldiers who stood glowering over his shoulder quashed any doubts the prison staff had and Chamberlin got his men. The prisoners he had freed were smugglers and traffickers and were all tied to a case that involved the bribery of police officers. Four of the men were career crooks, but the round-faced fifty-something Paul Maillebuau, nicknamed ‘Gros Paul’ (Big Paul), was a corrupt police inspector who had been kicked out of the force for extorting his own men.

         Chamberlin returned two days later for another twenty-one prisoners, and then came back the next day for two more. Most of the 14men he selected came from his criminal past in Paris or in the south of the country, and all were professional crooks with long records. Famous faces included his old prison friend Adrien Estébétéguy; André Girbes, known as ‘La Rigole’ (The Laugh), who was a hardened thief with a reputation in the French underworld; his friend Robert Moura, nicknamed ‘Le Fantassin’ (The Footsoldier), who was a pimp with a recent conviction for ‘hiring women for the purpose of debauchery’. There was also Lucien Prévost, who had four convictions for dealing in stolen goods, had strong connections to a notorious arms dealer, and had partnered Estébétéguy in the gold scam that put them both in prison in the first place. Other crooks included Tissier, Carrier, Pinardel and others. And now they all worked for Chamberlin.

         The news about Chamberlin’s fledgling criminal enterprise spread throughout gangland Paris, from the whorehouses of Pigalle to the dimly lit bars of Montmartre. Monsieur Henri had the power to spring anyone he wanted. A 38-year-old petty criminal who’d spent most of his career getting caught was now a serious ‘caïd’, a gang boss.

         Chamberlin had barely assembled his team when a panicking Radecke approached him and pushed a train ticket to the French coast into his hand. Chamberlin needed to take an urgent holiday. Colonel Rudolf had found out about Chamberlin’s recruitment drive among the cells of Fresnes, and he wasn’t happy.

         The colonel was especially upset about specific rumours that some prisoners had only been freed after their families had paid off Chamberlin with bribes. Apparently, a lot of money had changed hands. Rudolf was talking about putting Chamberlin on trial. Radecke told his new hire to stay out of sight until the situation calmed down.15

         Monsieur Henri headed for Bordeaux, while looking for a way to persuade the Abwehr to take him back. He would eventually find it through a Belgian spy who was hiding from the Germans in Toulouse. Chamberlin was moving on from petty crime to treason.16
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            ONE HOUR BEHIND GERMANY

         

         THE OLD MARSHAL HAD lines around his eyes like fishing nets and a dusty white, neatly trimmed moustache. By the time of the occupation, Pétain was eighty-four years old. On 30 October 1940, he made a formal address to the French people. His voice was firm and soothing as it came through radio grilles across the country.

         ‘This first meeting, between the victor and the vanquished, marks the first step toward the recovery of our country. I freely accepted the Fuhrer’s invitation. I acted under no compulsion, nor did I follow any diktat. Collaboration was proposed between our two countries, and I accepted the principle.’1

         Marshal Henri Philippe Benoni Omer Joseph Pétain had lived long enough to remember Napoléon III ruling over the Second Empire, horses clip-clopping on cobblestones through flickering shadows cast by the Paris gas lights and Georges-Eugène Haussmann gutting the heart of the city to build his model metropolis. Now the marshal was an old man hoping to rescue something from the wreckage of defeat.

         A lot of things had changed in the country since the summer of 1876, when a young Pétain left his family farm to enlist as a soldier 18in the service of France. Years of staff and regimental postings had kept the career military man off the colonial battlefields but allowed him to build a reputation as a dependable homeland officer, although not one who could always be trusted with other men’s wives. During his time in the forces, he saw the sword replaced by the pistol, and the rifle upgraded to the machine gun, and understood that future wars would be mechanised slaughterhouses; ‘Le feu tue,’ Pétain said. Firepower kills.2

         His understanding of modern warfare meant that he was one of the few French generals to come out of the First World War with his reputation intact. Politicians appreciated his cautious yet solid defence tactics. Soldiers welcomed his leniency with those men who cracked under the pressures of trench warfare. The interwar years saw Pétain take up more military staff positions, embark on a campaign against Rif rebels in Morocco, dabble in conservative politics, serve a stint as the French Minister of War and finally take up the position of ambassador to Spain.

         Paul Reynaud’s government recalled Pétain in May 1940 in an attempt to stop the German tanks powering through the Ardennes. Pétain checked the maps, did some calculations, then argued for an armistice. On 16 June he replaced Reynaud as Prime Minister of France. Soon after, the German troops took control of Paris and the fighting ceased.

         Pétain hoped for an honourable peace for his country, but instead he got an occupation that bled France dry and butchered its corpse. Nazi organisations began looting everything of value, while Wehrmacht mapmakers divided the country into ‘Occupied’ and ‘Unoccupied’ zones, before hacking away some more to make additional ‘Reserved’, ‘Forbidden’ and ‘Attached’ zones. Alsace-Lorraine became part of Germany. Another piece of France down in the 19south-east along the Alps went to Italy. All of the zones had different administrations and were divided by hard demarcation lines dotted with soldiers, sandbags and identity checks. The Occupied Zone ran on Berlin time, which was an hour ahead of the other sectors. It was a humiliating system, even to those French fascists who had initially welcomed their new German overlords, like far-right novelist Pierre Drieu la Rochelle. ‘A hierarchy of nations is not internationalism,’ he wrote in his diary.3

         The bitterness of occupation was sweetened slightly when Berlin authorised nominal French self-rule. This saw Pétain pupate into a dictatorial Chief of the French State and sign the armistice on 22 June 1940. Later he posed with Adolf Hitler in front of clicking cameras. Germany’s apparent concession was Machiavellianism disguised as charity. The true purpose of granting of self-rule was to soothe Britain into a peace deal and to stop rogue French military leaders fighting on against Germany from the colonies.

         Vichy obediently took its place in the Nazi new order and was immediately caught in the crossfire. In July 1940, over 1,000 sailors died at the Algerian port of Mers-el-Kébir when the British Royal Navy bombarded the French ships to prevent them being used in the German war effort. The next month, Pétain’s former subordinate General Charles de Gaulle – who had fled France in disgust at the armistice – left his London exile to occupy French Equatorial Africa and launch a failed invasion of the West African port of Dakar at the head of his rebel Free French forces.

         This civil war in miniature led to the deaths of French soldiers on both sides and left the public at home in desperate need of reassurance. Marshal Pétain gave it to them. On 30 October, millions tuned into Radio Nationale to be told that surrender was not shameful and that humiliation was not fatal.20

         
            To all those who await the salvation of France, I wish to say that salvation is already in our hands. To all those who would doubt the noble sentiment of our thoughts, I wish to say that a Frenchman’s first duty is to have faith. To the doubters and the defiant, I would remind [them] that the virtues of reserve and pride, when taken to an extreme, become mere stubbornness.4

         

         Pétain’s broadcast formally accepted that the German occupation was permanent. The old marshal couldn’t understand why Britain continued to fight the Nazis, and many French citizens felt the same way. In London, the Jewish author André Maurois, who had been caught overseas as a result of the occupation, had a row with National Gallery director Kenneth Clark about the British refusal to make peace. ‘He said that our obstinacy was an insult to France, a menace to Europe and a crime against history,’ stated Clark. ‘I realised that at this moment the French, having failed to fight the Germans, felt they must fight someone.’5

         The moral complexities of collaboration or resistance meant nothing to Henri Chamberlin. His only concern was to avoid a return to the pre-war days when he had empty pockets and a grumbling stomach. In the autumn of 1940 this meant that he had to prove his value to the Abwehr and find a way back to Paris.

         At first, Chamberlin spent the days of his imposed exile drinking in Bordeaux cafés and getting used to his newly adopted pseudonym of Henri Lafont. There was not much else to do in the flat port city on the river Garonne. His fortunes changed when the local German commander, Colonel Lorscheder, invited him to dinner. Agent 10.474.R turned up the charm and made it a memorable evening for all concerned, full of wine and jokes. By the time that dessert was served, Chamberlin was listening intently as Lorscheder  21complained about the problems that he was having in tracking down an enemy agent.

         Before the Second World War, a Belgian spymaster named Otto Lambrecht had managed a network of contacts across Europe. He disappeared from his homeland when Brussels fell to the Germans in May 1940, and re-emerged in Toulouse, a coral-coloured town full of restless Mediterraneans deep in France’s Zone Libre. In this part of the country, the German occupiers had no official presence and the local police remained eagle-eyed and patriotic.

         Lorscheder wanted Lambrecht and his spy network closed down but did not seem to be too concerned about the situation. The resistance in France remained embryonic. De Gaulle’s call to arms on BBC radio on behalf of the Free French had been heard by few and obeyed by less. There were episodes of defiance: a handful of German soldiers in Paris were attacked on the street and an ambush near the Bois de Boulogne put three soldiers in hospital. The occupying authorities talked about taking hostages, but the attacks stopped and nothing came of it.

         Most French people were too stunned to think about resisting the occupation. Chamberlin barely even understood that some of his compatriots were fighting back. ‘If the guys on the other side, the resistance, had suggested something to me, I would have done it, no question,’ he later remarked. ‘But in July and August 1940, I didn’t know about the resistance and hadn’t seen anything. I didn’t even know what it was.’6

         Lorscheder’s table talk about the rogue Belgian spy gave Chamberlin an idea. He had been arrested in Toulouse back in the late 1920s and knew the area well. He offered to make a trip to the town and sniff out Lambrecht. Colonel Lorscheder looked surprised, but he eventually agreed to take a chance on his new friend.22

         Chamberlin telephoned Radecke back in Paris and asked him to arrange for three of his freed jailbirds to travel south. The trio were specifically chosen by Chamberlin for their backgrounds: Estébétéguy had spent a lot of time in Toulouse before the war and Robert Moura and André Girbes were Bordeaux natives. Chamberlin met them at Bordeaux railway station with a selection of passes to get them across the demarcation line and into unoccupied Vichy. Before the gang of four began their journey, Chamberlin gave them a briefing and a pep talk. The next day they crossed into Vichy territory and a different world.

         Under Pétain, a coalition of young technocrats, right-wing Catholics and long-time nationalist activists had come together to bring their authoritarian dreams to life among the rubble of defeat. The government espoused regeneration through the Révolution Nationale, which was a paternalism that privileged large families and stopped married women from working in public services; dissolved trade unions and organised workers into horizontal slices of industry; promoted a watered-down version of fascist culture characterised by sports, health and youth groups camping in forests; and enforced a milder version of Nazi anti-Semitism that barred Jews from a number of professions.

         Government propaganda posters depicted medieval knights and Napoleonic-era peasants rising from freshly ploughed fields and country churches. Above it all, Pétain floated as leader somewhere between benevolent dictator and hollow figurehead.

         Chamberlin and his cronies did not care about Vichy’s plans for a new France. They came swimming into Toulouse like a gang of sharks through a shipwreck and hung around the town’s cafés and restaurants in search of Lambrecht. Estébétéguy quizzed his underworld friends about the spy until he got an address. When the 23half-asleep Belgian opened the door of his apartment to a group of men in the middle of the night, Chamberlin beat him unconscious. The gang stole Lambrecht’s car and drove back to Bordeaux.

         Colonel Lorscheder couldn’t believe it when his new French acquaintance opened the boot of the car to reveal Lambrecht lying tied up and desperate inside. Under interrogation the Belgian spy cracked and gave up 600 names of informants, spies and key intelligence sources. Chamberlin was welcomed back to Paris by the Abwehr with open arms.

         
            • • •

         

         The ‘One-Two-Two’ in rue de Provence was a building with an austere pale grey façade and home to one of the French capital’s most expensive and exclusive brothels. Clients could choose to satisfy an infinite number of perversions in one of the establishment’s twenty-two themed rooms, which included an Orient Express mock-up cabin that rocked and bounced, a pirate room with a four-poster bed that sprayed the inhabitants with jets of water, an igloo, a barn, a cottage and many more. In the restaurant, the waitresses wore aprons, high heels and nothing else. Before the war, disabled veterans could visit the premises for free. Now the building was full of German officers in Wehrmacht uniform congratulating Henri Chamberlin on his return from Toulouse.

         Radecke had organised a party to celebrate Chamberlin’s triumph. The building was filled with the sound of popping champagne corks and congratulatory slaps on the back, while pretty girls paid enough to convincingly fake enthusiasm shimmied out of their negligees. Colonel Rudolf refused to attend the soiree, but reluctantly accepted Chamberlin back into the agency.24

         Once his hangover wore off, Chamberlin had a job waiting for him with Max Stöcklin. Hermann Brandl’s Amt Otto purchasing offices were up and running and hungry for anything that French industry had to offer the German war effort. The collapsing economy meant that local businessmen were lining up to offload wagonloads of goods, from carpets to locomotive engines. They were paid in cash, and every shipment that went through the Saint-Ouen docks destined for the Reich bled France a little whiter.

         As German fangs sunk deeper into the French neck, a marché noir (black market) quickly proliferated, which grew larger when Vichy formally introduced rationing in September 1940. Criminals made fortunes by supplying sugar, tobacco, bread and anything else that the public couldn’t get enough of in the shops. Brandl decided that he wanted a piece of this emerging underground economy but soon discovered that the crooks who operated the system didn’t trust foreigners in uniform. A solution arrived with the return of Chamberlin.




OEBPS/images/9781785905926_cover_epub.jpg
~ “ENTHRALLING” “HIGHLY READABLE”
gm HEFFER, DAILY TELEGRAPH
A\






OEBPS/images/a003_online.jpg
THE

KING

OF
NAZI
PARIS

HENRI LAFONT AND THE GANGSTERS
OF THE FRENCH GESTAPO

CHRISTOPHER OTHEN

Biteback Publishing





